

Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

Price dispersion and consumer inattention: evidence from the market of bank accounts

by Nicola Branzoli





Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

Price dispersion and consumer inattention: evidence from the market of bank accounts

by Nicola Branzoli

Number 1082 - September 2016

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Pietro Tommasino, Piergiorgio Alessandri, Valentina Aprigliano, Nicola Branzoli, Ines Buono, Lorenzo Burlon, Francesco Caprioli, Marco Casiraghi, Giuseppe Ilardi, Francesco Manaresi, Elisabetta Olivieri, Lucia Paola Maria Rizzica, Laura Sigalotti, Massimiliano Stacchini. *Editorial Assistants:* Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print) ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

PRICE DISPERSION AND CONSUMER INATTENTION: EVIDENCE FROM THE MARKET OF BANK ACCOUNTS

by Nicola Branzoli*

Abstract

This paper analyzes consumer inattention in the market of checking accounts. I examine the behavior of consumers who keep account tariffs that are dominated, i.e. that charge higher costs for any amount of bank services consumed through the account, by tariffs available at the same bank and introduced after the account was opened. I show that the probability of observing an inattentive consumer decreases as the dispersion of prices across tariffs of her bank increases. Moreover, consumers using services with the greatest price dispersion across their banks' tariffs are less likely to be inattentive. These results are consistent with decision-theoretic models in which consumers focus their attention on attributes which differ more across options and can be useful in improving consumer choice in this market.

JEL Classification: D4, D8, D12, L11.

Keywords: dominated tariffs, consumer inattention, price dispersion.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 5 |
|----|--|----|
| 2. | Related literature | 10 |
| 3. | Industry characteristics, data and empirical strategy | 11 |
| | 3.1 Summary statistics | 13 |
| | 3.2 Construction of dominated tariffs | 16 |
| 4. | Results | 19 |
| | 4.1 Which clients have dominated tariffs and how much does it cost? | 20 |
| | 4.2 Which parts of the tariffs are overlooked by consumers? | 23 |
| | 4.3 Dispersed prices and the probability of having a dominated tariff | 25 |
| 5. | Robustness analysis | 31 |
| | 5.1 Mis-measurement of the marginal price | 31 |
| | 5.2 Are consumers inattentive or indifferent to the costs of their accounts? | 33 |
| 6. | Conclusions | 35 |
| Re | ferences | 36 |
| Aţ | ppendix A: additional results | 40 |
| | | |

^{*} Bank of Italy, Directorate General for Economics, Statistics and Research.

"Choose well. Your choice is brief, and yet endless."

Johann Wolfgang von Goethe.

1 Introduction

Comparing tariffs can be complicated, even when they are offered by the same firm. Sometime sellers design different options to accommodate consumer preferences, multi-product firms offer different bundles of goods at different prices, single-product firms may charge different prices for the same good consumed at different moments. Consumers often react to these difficulties by sticking to their past choices, even when changing tariffs might save them money.¹

Understanding why consumers sometime ignore new and cheaper tariffs is an issue for both academics and policy makers. Regulators need to cope with its consequences for competition and the effectiveness of policy interventions. On the one hand, such behavior can limit the competitive pressure put by attentive consumers, keeping alive inefficient firms or leading the efficient ones to maintain higher prices; on the other hand, consumer inattention may reduce the effect of policy interventions seeking to correct market inefficiencies. Academics, on their part, have become increasingly interested in extending the standard consumer choice model to account for behaviors which are hard to reconcile with rational thinking, and understand whether firms design tariffs to profit from it.

This paper contributes to this issue by studying consumer inattention for new tariffs in the market of bank checking accounts. The data contain tariffs and usage information of a representative sample of all bank checking accounts held by private individuals and households in Italy.² I define the set of inattentive consumers as those keeping tariffs that are dominated by some non-promotional alternative, i.e. a tariff available to old clients, introduced after the account has been opened by the same bank where the account is held. Inattentive consumers are therefore consumers who spend too much to use their checking account because, at their own bank, there is a tariff that would allow them to pay always less. This approach compare tariffs using all possible combinations of usage of bank services and number of

¹See Grubb (2015) for a review.

²Checking accounts held by businesses are excluded.

financial operations observed in the representative data.³ A tariff is therefore dominated not only when it charges higher prices for all services, but also when it charges a lower price for one or more services but the implied savings never lead to lower costs of the account.⁴ Moreover, it does not depend on the characteristics of a specific consumer nor her use of the account.

One possible drawback of the analysis is that consumer inattention is measured imperfectly. Infact, there can be inattentive consumers also among those with undominated tariffs: the consumers who have a non-dominated tariff by chance, even though they are inattentive to the costs of their accounts or the new options offered by their banks. However, comparing the behavior of consumers with dominated tariffs, who are all inattentive to the costs of their accounts, to the consumers having undominated tariffs, among whom some are attentive enough not to have tariffs that are avoidably expensive, provides field evidence on what inattentive consumers pay more and why. For example, I can observe which prices tend to be higher in dominated tariffs, and therefore less salient to consumers, or I can observe when consumers tend to be more attentive, examining, for example, whether attention improves or deteriorates with the length of the relationship between banks and their clients.

Consistent with other studies of this market (Ater and Landsman (2013), Stango and Zinman (2014)), the results show that consumer inattention for the tariffs of their bank accounts is a common phenomenon. A significant fraction of consumers, roughly 50% in the main analysis, keep tariffs that are dominated by some non-promotional alternative later introduced by their bank. Moreover, using a simple measure of foregone savings, I find that consumers could lower the costs of their accounts by 38% to 68% by switching to a non-dominated tariff of their bank.

Interpreting all these these consumers as locked-in by their tariffs, and these foregone savings as search or switching costs, would be misleading.⁵ First, because tariff update does not involve any search.

³The approach used is similar to the one introduced by Miravete (2013), who however does not have information on usage. See Section 3.2 for details.

⁴As a simple example, suppose that transfers are the only activity that can be made through an account and that a bank offers two tariffs: tariff A charges a fixed fee of $\in 2$ and $\in 0.5$ for each transfer and tariff B charges a fixed fee of $\in 20$ and $\in 0.1$ for each transfer. Tariff B is cheaper than tariff A only if consumers make more than 45 transfers. If, in the data, consumers never make more than 45 transfers, I consider tariff B as dominated even if it charges a lower price for transfers. These dominated tariffs might not be immediately evident to a consumer who simply compares prices service-by-service. See Section 3.2 for more the details.

⁵In principle, any inertial behavior could be rationalized by introducing an arbitrary cost of changing past decisions and, probably, some consumers with dominated tariffs have some costs of switching tariffs, for example because they moved to an area where there are no branches of their bank. However, for the reasons explained below in this section, interpreting 1 out 2 consumers as having such large costs would be a mistake. The results indeed show that there are systematic differences

Second, because there are no monetary switching costs associated to switching tariffs and the nonmonetary switching costs are limited. Service discontinuites are generally limited to less than 24 hours and changing tariff does not involve changes in the credit card or the account code used for payments and other financial services.⁶

Consumer inattention have therefore two potential explanations in this context:⁷ either understanding information about new tariffs is costly, and consumers rationally trade-off potential savings and information costs (the rationally inattentive consumers in Reis (2006), Matêjka and McKay (2015) and Caplin and Dean (2015) among others); or consumers heuristically focus their attention on some prices, sometime concluding that their tariff is similar to the others even when it is not. An empirically successful model for how consumers heuristically focus their attention is the context-dependent approach (Tversky (1969), Tversky and Kahneman (1981)), in which consumers look at the attributes of their options, prices in this context, which are more diverse. In other words, larger differences attract consumer attention. This would suggest that the larger is the dispersion of prices across tariff of the bank, the more attentive are consumers, and the less likely they are to have a dominated tariff.⁸ Evidence of this form of heuristic thinking has been found in laboratory experiments (Simonson and Tversky (1992)) and can explain various behaviors inconsistent with rational thinking documented empirically (see the discussion in Bordalo *et al.* (2012) and Kőszegi and Szeidl (2013)).

Three main results examine the causes of this inattention. First, the probability of keeping a dominated tariff increases with the age of the account.⁹ Second, the only price systematically higher in accounts held by inattentive consumers is the fixed fee paid simply to have the account. Third, the dispersion of

between the tariffs kept by inattentive consumers and those held by attentive consumers.

⁶Consumers changing tariff are required to sign the legal documents necessary to change tariff, although banks are usually flexible in this respect, allowing their costumers to sign these documents at their convenience.

⁷Grubb (2015) discusses all the potential explanations for why consumers may not buy at the best available price.

⁸As an example, consider a consumer with a tariff charging a fixed fee of ≤ 20 and 0.5 cents per transfer. Suppose that this consumer faces an alternative tariff charging a fixed fee of ≤ 15 and ≤ 1 per transfer. Because comparing tariffs in this market requires some attention, given the number of prices to look at and the computations to make, this consumer might quickly dismiss the idea of changing tariff: the fixed fee is only few euros lower and transfers are more expensive. Suppose instead that the consumer faces a different alternative tariff, one charging ≤ 5 of fixed fee and ≤ 3 per transfer. Now the consumer may decide to put more attention into the comparison of the two tariffs because the fixed fee of the new tariff is one third of the current tariff, but transfers are 6 times more expensive. The first comparison is not more complicated than the second, nor it is ex-ante clear that expected savings from switching to the second alternative are larger than the first, larger differences are simply more salient.

⁹I do not have enough observations to analyze whether initial choices are optimal, beacuse only 341 accounts are observed in the year they open. However, among them, only 15% of the observations have dominated tariffs.

prices across tariffs offered by the same bank is sistematically related to consumer attention.

The positive relation between inattention and account tenure indicates that consumers do not learn through experience in this market, as they do in others (Agarwal et al. (2013), Miravete and Palacios-Huerta (2014)).¹⁰ This evidence is consistent with the results from surveys in Italy and other countries. In 2010 the Bank of Italy included in its bi-annual survey on consumer finance a question on what the respondents read when they receive the account statement. More than one third of the households answered that they don't read the account statement at all, or check only the available balance, effectively overlooking all tariff information contained in it. A similar survey in the UK found that "half of the respondents have no information about the fees for common financial services at their own bank".¹¹ The unique role of the fixed fee in determining which tariffs are dominated excludes rational inattention as the main exaplantion of consumer behavior. The fixed fee, which is the only component of tariffs systematically overlooked by consumers, is the easiest price to observe and compare among tariffs because it is constant, it is zero for more than a quarter of the accounts, it is often advertised by banks as the one to check and it is the single largest component of bank account costs (on average one third of the overall costs).¹² Thus inattentive consumers fail to check the part of the tariff with the lowest information costs: it is the easiest to observe and compare among options, it is often zero and it is advertised by firms as the one where consumers could save. If information costs were the main driver of consumer inattention, the easiest price to compare would not be the only component determining

tariff dominance.¹³

Multiple results indicate that the dispersion of prices across tariffs offered by the same bank is sistematically related to consumers' having dominated tariffs, and therefore that are larger differences the focus

¹⁰On the contrary, the inertia in keeping old and dominated tariffs indicate that consumers are not fully aware that their account costs have fallen in recent years. The costs of bank accounts have decreased in Italy since the survey started, in some years by as much as ten per cent a year. The official analysis are available at https://www.bancaditalia.it/pubblicazioni/indagine-costo-cc/index.html?com.dotmarketing.htmlpage.language=1.

¹¹See Cruickshank (2000). A related interesting question would by why consumers tend to ignore the information contained in their account statement. See Stango and Zinman (2014) for an analysis of a randomized shock to consumer attention to their overdraft fees.

¹²The other fixed fees, which include fixed, debit and credit card fees, made two thirds of the total costs of these accounts on average. See the analysis in Section 3.1.

¹³Moreover, in Section 5 I will show that conditioning the analysis to the consumers whose foregone savings are small, hence who are more likely to rationally ignore small savings rather than to selectively focus their attention on some parts of the tariffs, do not change the results. Thus, also the behavior of these consumers seems to be driven by inattention rather indifference for small sums.

of consumer attention. For example, consumers using services with the most dispersed prices among the tariffs offered by their bank are less likely to be inattentive, and consumers using only the services with the least dispersed prices are more likely to be inattentive. These results are not driven by selection of some consumers into those using specific services, since the services with the most dispersed prices across tariffs vary considerably across banks.¹⁴ Moreover, the probability of being inattentive decreases when the dispersion of prices of the services used by the consumer increases, including the dispersion of the fixed fee.¹⁵ This evidence indicates that the characteristics of alternative tariffs matter for consumer choice, that consumers are more attentive when the prices they pay are more dispersed across their option, and that the more dispersed are the prices, the more attention they focus, even though they do not pay attention on the level of a price, as for the fixed fee. In conclusion, consumers in this market do not behave as rationally inattentive, but they heuristically focus their attention, and the dispersion of prices across tariffs is what attracts their attention.

The distinction between rationally inattentive consumers and context-dependent choice is important not only because the first explanation implies that consumers' decisions are ex-ante optimal, while the second does not, but also for the policy interventions that they would recommend to improve consumer choices in this market. The theoretical literature on heuristic thinking suggests that an effective intervention in this context would be to change the default option, now the automatic renewal of old tariffs, because limited focusing lead to procrastination (Kőszegi and Szeidl (2013)).¹⁶ Therefore, a feasible policy intervention could ask consumers to actively pick a new tariff the first time they visit a branch when their tariff is no longer offered to new clients, or once in a while, such as every eight years, which is the median account age in the sample. The costs imposed on consumers would be limited, direct costs imposed on banks null, and many old tariffs still charged because of consumers' heuristic think-

¹⁴There could also be a supply-side explanation: banks increase prices for those services where consumers are most inattentive, therefore increasing price dispersion for those services. Given that the services with most and the least dispersed prices vary considerably across banks, this explanation would require that consumers inattentive to the same prices self-select into the same banks, which seems unlikely. However, whether firms in this market do design contracts to take advantage of consumer inattention is an interesting topic that I leave for future research.

¹⁵For example, consumers using branch transfers are less likely to have dominated tariffs in banks where branch transfers is the operation with the highest coefficient of variation of prices, or consumers using only branch transfers are more likely to be inattentive in banks where branch transfers is the operation with the lowest coefficient of variation of prices. Moreover, when the dispersion in the prices of branch transfers increases, consumers using branch transfers are less likely to have a dominated tariff. These results are robust to using other measures of price dispersion.

¹⁶For the importance of the default option and its role on pricing decisions, see Ericson (2014) and Decarolis (2015).

ing would be updated, benefiting consumers and, potentially, competition.¹⁷

The reminder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews the literature on consumer inattention, focusing on the empirical evidence from the market of bank accounts. Section 3 describes the data and the empirical strategy. Sections 4 and 5 present the results and some selected robustness checks respectively. Section 6 concludes.

2 Related literature

In many subscription markets consumers make optimal decisions, or eventually learn to behave in their best interests (Grubb and Osborne (2015)). In the retail market of bank accounts, however, a growing empirical literature has started to document that consumers make sizable mistakes, that these mistakes are expensive and persistent, and that, paradoxically, experience can exacerbate sub-optimal decisions.¹⁸

Stango and Zinman (2009) examine the daily behavior of a group of consumers with both checking and credit card accounts. They find that all panelists could reduce the costs of their accounts simply by reallocating their wealth across accounts they already own.¹⁹ These avoidable costs could be substantial: for the median panelist, the average savings are 60% of the costs of the accounts, equivalent to 300\$ per year. Interestingly, consumers in their sample are wealthier and better educated than the average consumer in the US, suggesting that these suboptimal choices may not be primarily caused a lack of understanding of the various options. In fact, Stango and Zinman (2014) point to inattention as a determinant of consumer mistakes in the market of bank accounts. In a field experiment, the authors use survey questions as randomized shocks to consumer attention to overdraft fees. They find that respondents who face overdraft-related questions in the survey are significantly less likely to incur in an overdraft fee in the survey month. Ater and Landsman (2013) document sizable mistakes in the

¹⁷Finding that the rational trade-off of information costs vs. savings was the main explanation of consumer inattention would have suggested the simplification of tariffs or the use of single cost indices. In Italy there already is a single index used to summarize the overall costs of bank account tariffs, called ISC profile (an acronym for Indicatore Sintetico di Costo). For an analysis of the introduction of single indices see Hastings and Duarte (2012).

¹⁸The market of personal bank accounts has also been analyzed in a older stream of papers which focused on switching costs. See for example Zephirin (1994), Sharpe (1997), Kiser (2002) and Stango (2002).

¹⁹For example, 85% of consumers pay late fees on their credit card payments while keeping enough money on the checking account to meet the minimum credit card payment.

choice of checking account tariffs, and that these mistakes exacerbate for some consumers after they switch tariff.²⁰ In particular, customers who pay a over-usage fee tend to switch to plans with larger allowances, and the subsequent monthly payments end up exceeding the average monthly charges before switching. Ater and Landsman (2016) show that simple heuristics play a key role in the learning process. The results shown in this paper are consistent with this research, based on similar data from other countries, and extend its analysis, being the firsts that examine the causes of consumer inattention and analyze the role of simple heuristics in consumer mistakes.

This paper is also related to the empirical literature analyzing context effects. While the nonexperimental literature has focused on the stability of risk preferences across contexts using insurance data (Barseghyan *et al.* (2011)), most of the evidence about other decisions are confined to laboratory experiments (Simonson and Tversky (1992)). The findings presented below complement the laboratory experiment, providing evidence of context effects in the choice of tariffs in a non-experimental setting. Finally, this paper is related to the available evidence documenting the presence of dominated tariffs (Miravete (2013)) and consumer making dominated decisions (Abaluck and Gruber (2011)).²¹ The results presented extend these analysis distinguishing among possible explanations for consumer inattentive choices.

3 Industry characteristics, data and empirical strategy

The data comes from a survey of personal bank account costs carried out every year by the Bank of Italy.²² At the beginning of each year the Italian Central Bank selects a representative sample of all branches belonging to Italian banks in the country²³ and collects all information contained in the

²⁰The authors also show that the initial choices are often sub-optimal. For example, they find that less than 20% of accounts are associated to their cost-minimizing plans based on their account usage either before or after the adoption of the plans, and that monthly payments would have been on average 30% lower had the owners chosen the cost-minimizing plan.

²¹Abaluck and Gruber (2011) focus on a new industry, the Medicare Part D sector, used by the elderly part of the population, while I analyze a mature market where the median client age is in the 30's.

²²This dataset is combined with the Supervisory Reports on banks' balance sheets to merge banks' characteristics.

²³The sampling scheme reflects the distribution of branches by bank type (top 5 banks, mutual banks - in Italian "banche di credito cooperativo" - and others) and municipality type (high, medium and low population density). If, for example, 10% of the population of all Italian banks' branches belong to the top 5 banks in municipalities with low population density, 10% of the branches sampled have such characteristics. The selected brenches are required to respond the detailed questions in the survey, with costs and usage of financial services associated to checking accounts, plus additional informations, using

account statement sent to clients at the end of the previous year. This includes total expenditures and number of operations for all the main services associated to an account, additional information on the account holder and the other financial services provided by the bank to the client, such as whether the bank has issued a loan to that client or manage her savings.

The costs of checking accounts have mildly decreased in Italy in the period covered in the analysis, by few percentage points each year.²⁴ This trend reflects both recent changes in the banking sector, where financial institutions have gone through considerable reorganizations to cut costs after the crisis, passing to consumers part of the savings, and changes in the typical use of bank accounts by consumers, who increasingly rely on cheaper services such as online transfers.

Checking accounts allow the immediate access to the entire account balance and are used mostly for day-to-day financial transactions. They are priced accordingly: the amount deposited in the account bear a very low interest rate (close to nihil in the period under study)²⁵ because consumers do not commit to keep money in the account, as in savings accounts, and bank revenues come from the charges associated to withdrawals, transfers and other financial services associated to accounts.

Tariffs in this market are complicated, mainly because of the number of different types of financial operations that are commonly executed through an account. To simplify, operations can be categorized into three broad groups: withdrawals, transfers and payments. These categories can be further classified into sub-categories, each with a different price. For example, transfers can be to an account opened in the same bank, in a bank within the Single Euro Payments Area (SEPA) or to an account opened in another bank around the world. Each type of transfer have a different price. For the analysis of this paper, I will consider the sub-categories used by at least 5 per cent of the sample: branch withdrawals, withdrawals from ATM of their bank, branch transfers within SEPA, online transfers within SEPA and automatic payments.²⁶

The second key characteristic of tariffs in this market is their non-linearity: banks usually charge a

accounts of their choosing, provided that they reflect the distribution of account age at their branch.

²⁴Details are available at https://www.bancaditalia.it/pubblicazioni/indagine-costo-cc/ index.html?com.dotmarketing.htmlpage.language=1

²⁵Since 2009 the average rate paid on checking accounts in Italy has been lower than 0.41% per year. See Bank of Italy (2016).

²⁶Each type of operation not considered, e.g. ATM withdrawals from machines not owned by the bank or transfers outside the SEPA system, are never used by more than 95% of the sample described below.

fixed fee to keep the account open ("canone base", basic fee henceforth), a fee for each debit or credit card and two fees related to the costs of sending the account statements and contract terms periodically ("costo estratto conto" and "costo trasparenza" respectively). These five fees are independent of the number of operations executed through the account or through the cards associated to it. This tariff complexity is likely to increase the costs of comparing tariffs. The empirical literature has indeed found substantial costs of switching bank in this market (Zephirin (1994), Sharpe (1997), Kiser (2002), Stango (2002)).²⁷

3.1 Summary statistics

The sample contains a repeated cross section of 44,500 accounts sampled from 2009 to 2014.²⁸ To describe the activity of these accounts and their costs, I will focus on the services used by at least 5 per cent of the sample: branch and ATM withdrawals, branch and online transfers and automatic payments (see the discussion at the beginning of this section).

Costumers spend on average \in 82 per year including both the fixed and the variable components (Table 1).²⁹

| Costs (in €) | Mean | S.d. | Percentiles | | |
|------------------|------|------|-------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| | | | 25^{th} | 50 th | 75 th |
| Basic fee | 35.1 | 37.4 | 0 | 30.0 | 55.1 |
| Other fixed fees | 26.3 | 38.4 | 2.0 | 11.4 | 35.7 |
| Variable Costs | 20.4 | 31.4 | 0 | 7.0 | 26.3 |
| | | | | | |
| Total costs | 81.9 | 64.9 | 38.1 | 68.1 | 112.4 |

Table 1 – Determinants of the overall yearly costs. Notes: mean, standard deviation and the three quartiles of the distribution of the three main categories of yearly costs associated to payment accounts. Number of observations: 44,501.

²⁷By law, monetary switching costs are zero in Italy, cfr. art. 120-bis TUB (d.lgs. n. 385/1993) and art. 126-bis TUB. I should also mention the fact that banks are multi-product firms, providing not only basic retail banking services but they also allow their clients to borrow, buy insurance products, invest and so on. These activities are risky and therefore involve some trust between bank and clients, which is likely to create switching costs even if tariffs were simple.

²⁸The survey originally contains data on a sample of roughly 63,000 checking accounts from which I drop accounts which benefit from a special agreement between the bank and the account holder's employer (conti in convenzione). The number of accounts increases over time: there are 5,774 accounts in 2009, 8,032 in 2010, 10,888 in 2011, 12,087 in 2012, 12,214 in 2013, 13,118 in 2014.

²⁹These statistics are not directly comparable with the ones presented by the official Bank of Italy's annual report published online because I do not consider accounts which benefit from a special agreement between the bank and the account holder's employer (conti in convenzione), which are included in the official analysis.

The largest component of these costs is the basic fee, which accounts for 43% of the overall costs, while the other fixed fees account for 32%. The costs associated with usage make up the remaining 25%. There is significant variation in the basic fee considering that 30% of the accounts pay a zero fee while accounts in the top quartile pay more than \in 55.

In Table 2 I report information on unit prices. Debit and credit cards cost, on average, $\in 5$ and $\in 15$ per year respectively. The most expensive services are transfers, both in the branch and online. The other operations are rarely priced (only the top quartile pay a price different from zero).

| Financial service | Mean | S.d. | Percentiles | | les |
|--------------------|-------|-------|-------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| | | | 25^{th} | 50 th | 75 th |
| Unit fees: | | | | | |
| Basic fee | 35.1 | 37.4 | 0 | 30.0 | 55.1 |
| Debit Card | 5.02 | 6.34 | 0 | 0 | 10.0 |
| Credit Card | 14.78 | 16.27 | 0 | 12.0 | 30.0 |
| | | | | | |
| Average prices: | | | | | |
| Branch withdrawal | 0.10 | 0.61 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Branch transfers | 2.36 | 2.70 | 0.5 | 2.5 | 3.5 |
| ATM withdrawal | 0.30 | 0.70 | 0 | 0 | 0.3 |
| Online transfers | 0.65 | 1.15 | 0 | 0.50 | 1.0 |
| Automatic payments | 0.25 | 2.10 | 0 | 0 | 0.2 |

Table 2 – Prices and fees. Notes: mean, standard deviation and the three quartiles of the distribution of account prices, conditional on using the service. Number of observations: 44,501.

Table 3 reports summary statistics on usage.

| Service | Users* | Mean** | S.d. ** | Percentiles** | | es** |
|-------------------|--------|--------|----------------|---------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| | (%) | | | 25^{th} | 50 th | 75 th |
| Debit card | 71.7 | 1.1 | 0.41 | 1 | 1 | 2 |
| Credit card | 46.5 | 1.2 | 0.52 | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| | | | | | | |
| Branch withdrawal | 56.5 | 8.6 | 10.7 | 2 | 5 | 12 |
| ATM withdrawal | 60.0 | 36.1 | 33.9 | 11 | 28 | 51 |
| Branch transfer | 35.6 | 4.4 | 6.0 | 1 | 2 | 5 |
| Online transfer | 19.0 | 9.2 | 15.0 | 2 | 6 | 12 |
| Automatic payment | 66.4 | 25.2 | 140.8 | 10 | 16 | 29 |
| | | | | | | |

Table 3 – Summary statistics on yearly usage. Notes: *: percentage of the sample who used at least once the service during the year; **: conditional on using the service. Number of observations: 44,501.

A significant fraction of the sample use only some services. For example, 30% of the sample do not have a debit card associated to the account, more than 80% do not make online transfers. Rougly 5% of the sample have no card at all nor use any operation during a year.

These statistics on usage and prices suggest that the heterogeneity in the fixed fee is too large to be driven by some consumers choosing to pay higher fixed fees for lower prices the other services (Hayes (1987), Spulberg (1989)). To understand whether higher basic fees are associated with lower prices, I have estimated a tobit regression for each price using various controls and the basic fee as explanatory variables. The results, reported in Appendix A.1, show that the average marginal decrease is very small, and in some cases insignificant, for all fees and prices .³⁰

Prices increase with the age of the account, as one would expect in markets with switching costs (Klemperer (1987)). However this positive relationship keeps increasing with the age of the account, therefore it is not only due to introductory discounts (Figure 1a).³² For example, the average basic fee of accounts older than 12 years, i.e. those in the top quartile of the distribution of tenure, is 15% higher than the average basic fee in the second quartile (account with 3 to 7 years). The positive correlation between prices and tenure at all tenure levels holds also for accounts within the same bank (Figure 1b), suggest-

³⁰For example the fee associated to a credit card price³¹ fall of 3 cents for an increase of one euro in the basic fee. A consumer would need to use more than 30 debit cards to consider it profitable.

³²With one exception: costs associated with usage are higher in the second quartile than in all other quartiles. Ignoring this, variables costs are still strictly increasing with tenure, although this can potentially be due to usage. I will address this issue below.

ing that switching costs are not the only explanation.³³

To conclude, the evidence just described indicates that the basic fee is the most important single component of account costs for most consumers. The variability of the fixed fee is not explained by second degree price discrimination, and account costs are an increasing function account tenure, at all tenure levels.

> 90 80

> 70

60 50

40

30









Figure 1 – Summary statistics on account costs by tenure. The first quartile includes accounts younger than 3 years, the second quartile includes accounts with tenure between 3 and and 7 years, the third quartile includes all accounts with tenure between 7 and 12 years. Panel a) includes all accounts (44,501 observations), panel a) includes only accounts opened in the most represented bank in the sample (4,562 observations).

3.2 Construction of dominated tariffs

In this section I describe the approach used to identify tariffs dominated by some alternative offered by the same bank and how I compute foregone savings from not being on the efficient tariff frontier. The approach proposed is based on comparing tariffs offered by banks to their clients using all potential uses of the account present in the data. To describe all potential uses of the accounts, I define consumption profiles as the combination of the number cards and the number of times each service described in

³³A positive correlation between prices and tenure at all tenure levels could indicate the presence of third degree price discrimination of consumers' switching costs (Holmes (1989)). If account tenure helps banks to learn conusmer preferences and switching costs through time, price discrimination may occur on the basis of tenure, i.e. banks could increase prices on older accounts. However, financial intermediaries are not allowed to explicitly discriminate consumers based on tenure, and they would face potentially large reputation costs if they did.

Section 3.1 is used.³⁴ To collect the largest possible set of consumption profiles, I include just for the definition of consumption profiles the accounts not included in the main analysis because they benefit from special agreements between the bank and the client's employer (see footnote 29). Thus the set of consumption profiles used to compare tariffs is given by all combinations of the number of debit cards, credit cards, periodic statements and number of times each service is used present at least once in the dataset. I obtain roughly 47,000 different consumption profiles that will be used to identify which tariffs are "always" more expensive than the alternatives offered by the same bank.

It is useful to highlight the wide range of these consumption profiles. For instance, at one extreme there are consumption profiles that involve using no cards nor services, so that tariffs with the lowest basic fee is never dominated. On the other end of the spectrum, there are consumption profiles which use all cards and operations many times. Moreover, for each card type and each service, there is at least one consumption profile that has only that card/service different from zero. So, for example, some consumption profiles have some debit card associated, but no credit card nor any use of withdrawals, transfers or automatic payments. Therefore some dominated tariff are characterized by having all prices strictly higher than their alternatives. This condition is sufficient but not necessary. For example, suppose that the only service provided by banks is branch withdrawals. If tariff A has a fixed fee of $\in 20$ and free branch withdrawals, and tariff B has a 0 fixed fee and branch withdrawals priced at $\in 0.5$ but I observe all account owners making always less than the break-even number of branch withdrawal (40), then I will consider tariff A as dominated. Then a tariff is dominated when it has strictly higher prices for all services or when it charges a lower price for one, or a subset, of the services but the implied savings never lead to lower overall costs of the account.

Second, I identify the set of non-promotional tariffs available to the client. A tariff is the combination of average prices and fees for the services used to construct consumption profiles. To identify tariffs available to the client, I consider those that are associated to an account with at least one year of age and that have been opened after 2008, to exclude respectively non-promotional tariffs and old tariffs that might no longer be available. In addition I require that the alternative tariff must be associated to a younger account, to consider only tariffs that have been effectively available to that client at some point

³⁴As discussed above, I consider only the services used by at least 5 per cent of the sample

during her relationship with the bank. All these restrictions are important to consider alternatives that were effectively available to the client, however each of them reduces the number of accounts available for the empirical analysis. To maintain the sample size large enough, I decide to avoid restrictions based on the year in which the account is sampled.³⁵

For each tariff I compute the costs associated to each consumption profile and compare all tariffs of accounts held in the same bank. Tariffs that never have the minimum costs are tagged as dominated and I interpret his owner as an inattentive consumer.³⁶ It is possible that account owners with undominated tariffs are inattentive too. However their inattention does not lead them to clear mistakes in the tariff they have, therefore I consider their inattention as less relevant the the kind of inattention that lead to keep dominated tariffs.

To provide additional evidence on the costs associated to keeping a tariff that is dominated, I compute measures of foregone savings from not being on the efficient frontier of tariffs offered by their bank. The number of services in this market, and therefore prices making a tariff, would make the computation of elasticities and cross-substitution patterns necessary to endogenize responses to changes in tariffs complicated. Therefore, to compute a single measure of savings, I use the empirical distribution of usage given by the sample frequency of each consumption profile. Using the example represented in Figure 2, if $\pi(q_i)$ is the empirical frequency of the number of times the quantity q_i (for i = 1, 2) is consumed in the sample, the single measure of saving I compute is given by $\pi(q_1)\Delta C(q_1) + \pi(q_2)\Delta C(q_2)$. In case I find more than one dominant tariff, which happens in most cases, I compute the minimum and the maximum of these savings. Note that these measures do not take into account the endogenous response of consumption of different services to a change in prices, however it is informative of how far a tariff is from the efficient tariff frontier offered by the same bank where the client has the account.

³⁵Consider, for example, an account opened in the year 2001 and sampled in 2014. If I find a tariff of an account opened in 2000 and sampled in 2013, i.e. opened and sampled before the accout, I assume that our client could have chosen in 2013 such tariff and could have kept it in 2014. I make such choice for data requirements. If I imposed that the sampled year of the alternative tariff must be equal to the one of the account, the size of the available sample would be significantly reduced.

³⁶A similar approach is proposed by Miravete (2013). Miravete (2013)'s analysis however confront tariffs with combinations of tariffs offered by the same firm, while I make pairwise comparisons among tariffs.



Figure 2 – This figure provides a graphical representation of a dominated tariff for a single service. The x-axis represent the quantity of the service consumed, the y-axis total costs of the account. The figure assumes for simplicity that there are only two possible levels of consumption, q_1 and q_2 . Tariff B is dominated by tariff A because it is always more expensive.

4 Results

I now present the results of the analysis. I compared the tariffs of 33,862 accounts, which represent roughly 76% of the original sample, using 44,700 different consumption profiles observed in the data.³⁷ By construction, these accounts tend to be in larger banks and in most populated geographic areas, therefore the analysis focuses on markets where there is more competition and clients are more likely to be financially educated.

I find that 51% of the sample keep tariffs strictly dominated by a non-promotional tariff introduced after the account has been opened by the same bank where the account is held. Roughly 90% of banks in the

³⁷As explained in Section 3.2, I can analyze tariffs only if I observe an account with at least one year of age opened after 2007 by a client with a similar usage of the account. For 12,000 observations, the survey does not contain accounts with these characteristics in the same bank where the account is open, therefore I do not have tariffs suitable for computing tariff dominance.

sample have some accounts with dominated tariffs. This proportion ranges from just a few accounts to more than 48 percent for the top decile.

4.1 Which clients have dominated tariffs and how much does it cost?



Figure 3 report basic costs of accounts with and without dominated tariffs.



Accounts holders with dominated tariffs spend much more on the basic fee and less on the other fixed fees. This is mainly due to the fact that consumers with undominated tariffs tend to have more credit cards,³⁸ which suggests that they might be financially educated and use a more diversified range of bank basic services. Variable costs are instead roughly similar.

For each account with a dominated tariff, I have computed expected account costs using the empirical distribution of consumption profiles (see Section 3.2 for more details on how these savings are computed)³⁹ and measured the difference from expected costs of the most and the least expensive nondominated tariff. I interpret this value as a simple measure of how much each consumer can save if she switched to a non dominated tariff. The empirical distribution is shown in Figure 4.

³⁸40 per cent of the accounts among those with undominated tariffs have a credit card, while 26 per cent among those with dominated tariffs have a credit card.

³⁹These measures are computed as if demand was randomly chosen from the empirical distribution of consumption profiles, thus exogenous to prices. This assumption is clearly unrealistic, nonetheless I use it as a crude measure of how costly is to be off the efficient frontier of tariffs offered by the bank where the client has the account .



Figure 4 – *Distribution of the maximum and minimum expected savings from switching to a non-dominated tariffs offered by the same bank.*

The results suggest that foregone savings from keeping a tariff that is not on the efficient frontier can be significant. The most expensive non-dominated tariff would allow the consumers to save on average \in 24, the cheapest \in 51. These number are equivalent to 38 and 68 per cent respectively of the total costs of the bank account during the year.

To study how foregone savings vary with client and account characteristics, I estimate a tobit model and compute the marginal change of foregone savings. The results from the minimum and maximum savings, which use the most and the least expensive undominated tariff, are qualitatively similar, therefore I show here the most conservative ones associated with the most expensive. The results are reported in Table 4.

| Tobit model | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-----------|-------------|----------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable: Max | imum fore | gone saving | gs | | | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | | | | | |
| Account characteristics: | | | | | | | | |
| Age | 9.99*** | 9.54*** | 9.39*** | | | | | |
| C | (1.72) | (1.63) | (1.61) | | | | | |
| Dummy Asset Management | -7.88*** | -6.77*** | -6.76*** | | | | | |
| | (1.86) | (2.11) | (2.12) | | | | | |
| Dummy Home Banking | -19.9*** | -20.4*** | -20.4*** | | | | | |
| | (2.93) | (2.97) | (2.96) | | | | | |
| Dummy Loan | 10.9*** | 10.3*** | 10.3*** | | | | | |
| | (1.92) | (1.84) | (1.84) | | | | | |
| Client characteristics: | | | | | | | | |
| Age | 2.13*** | 2.12*** | 2.12*** | | | | | |
| | (0.55) | (0.58) | (0.57) | | | | | |
| Dummy male | 0.88 | 1.26 | 1.28 | | | | | |
| | (1.29) | (1.33) | (1.32) | | | | | |
| Not | 0 4 7 7 5 | 24720 | 0.450.4 | | | | | |
| N.Obs. | 34775 | 34730 | 34524 | | | | | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | | | | | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | | | | | |

Table 4 – Notes: Marginal effects estimated using a tobit model for the maximum foregone savings. Account and client age are measured in decades. All specifications contain fixed effect for bank group, year and region fixed effects. Bank controls are are log of total assets and various measures of bank characteristics normalized by total assets. Branch controls are branch employees, total amount deposited and total amount of credit issued. Standard errors clustered at bank and regional level. ***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

The average marginal effect of the account age is significant, roughly one euro per year. This means that accounts in the top quartile of the distribution of tenure, which are older than 12 years, tend to forgo larger savings from not switching to a tariff on the frontier than younger accounts. This indicates that consumers in this market do not learn how to choose a better tariff, as in other markets (Miravete and Palacios-Huerta (2014)). On the contrary they leave on the table larger savings by not checking other options within the same bank.

Table 4 also reports some additional results that provide a better understanding of consumers' mis-

takes. The presence of an investment account (labeled "Dummy Asset Management") is significantly related to savings. Using Italian data, Jappelli and Padula (2015) show that this variable correlates with client's financial literacy, therefore these results suggest that financial literacy improve the ability of understanding and comparing account costs. The correlation with the use of home-banking is even stronger in absolute terms. This can be interpreted both as the effect of easier access to the other bank's tariff through the use of Internet, or through its correlation with client's education.

4.2 Which parts of the tariffs are overlooked by consumers?

In this Section I investigate which prices are significantly higher in the dominated tariff kept by inattentive consumers. This analysis can be informative on consumers mistakes for two reasons. First, different prices are characterized by different level of salience. For example, prices for branch transactions can be checked every time the client asks the branch employee to make one, the price of on-line transfers is shown on the computer screen every time an operation is requested. Fees are instead less salient: the basic, credit and debit card fees are automatically charged to the account either yearly or quarterly. Similarly, automatic payments are charged without the client being aware every time the transaction is executed.

Second, comparing prices can be more or less complex depending on the specific component of the tariff. The basic fee is the easiest to compare, being independent of consumption. Transactions are the most complicated. A consumer has to forecast how much she will consume of a given transaction, take into account uncertainty, eventual non linearities in the tariff given by free operations and considering substitutability among transactions, such as on line and branch transfers.

To look into these issues, I repeat the main exercise 8 times, each time ignoring one component of the tariff. For example, I ignore the basic fee and I compute which tariffs are dominated, or I ignore credit cards (and ignore also duplicates of consumption profiles which differ only in the number of credit cards) and compute which tariffs are dominated. Table 5 reports, for each component of the tariffs, the fraction of consumers with dominated tariff ignoring such component and the foregone savings, measured as before.

| Financial service excluded* | Inattentive consumers | Fore savir | egone ngs*** |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|-----------------|
| | $(\%)^{**}$ | Min. | Max. |
| Baseline results | 51.2 | 38.6 | 68.3 |
| Basic fee | 0 | - | - |
| Debit Card | 52.0 | 37.2 | 65.2 |
| Credit Card | 52.1 | 37.7 | 66.1 |
| Branch withdrawal | 52.0 | 31.5 | 67.0 |
| Branch transfers | 53.0 | 28.6 | 65.0 |
| ATM withdrawal | 53.3 | 37.3 | 63.8 |
| Online transfers | 51.6 | 38.7 | 66.9 |
| Automatic payments | 53.0 | 35.7 | 65.1 |

Table 5 – Dominated tariffs and financial services. Notes: *: financial service excluded for the computation of dominated tariffs; **: percentage of accounts with dominated tariffs; ***: foregone savings are expressed as a percentage of the yearly account costs. See Section 3.2 on more details on how they are computed

All consumers have undominated tariffs if I do not consider the basic fee. Instead, the results about the other prices are quite similar across services. Roughly half of the accounts in the sample have dominated tariffs and the foregone savings from not being on the frontier of tariffs offered by their bank range between one third and two thirds of the yearly costs of the accounts.

It is worth stressing two observations to understand the implication of these results. First the basic fee is the single largest component of the costs of checking accounts, making up one third of the overall costs (see summary statistics in Section 3.1). This suggests that it should be the first to be checked by consumers but, in practice, it is not. Second the basic fee is easier to compare among tariffs than all the other components of a tariff: it can not be avoided by substituting services (for example like branch and on line transfers) and there is no uncertainty associated to its amount. On the contrary, it is among the least salient components of tariffs, since it is not shown every time an operation is used. Therefore I consider this result as quite important to understand the source of consumer inattention in this market. In the next Section I investigate the issue of the dispersion of tariff components.

4.3 Dispersed prices and the probability of having a dominated tariff

Building on the seminal paper of Tversky (1969), Bordalo *et al.* (2012), Bordalo *et al.* (2013) and Kőszegi and Szeidl (2013) have recently proposed decision-theoretic models in which choice attributes which differ more across options have also larger weights in the decision of the agent. Instead, attributes which are similar across options tend to be disregarded in the decision process.

For example, in Bordalo *et al.* (2012) an individual choosing among lotteries assigns larger weights to the states of the world in which payoffs are significantly different across lotteries. The presumption is that people do not compare lotteries when they pay the same. The authors show that a decision maker following such process behaves as risk-seeking when the payoffs are more diverse in the winning states of the world and become risk-averse when payoffs are more diverse in the losing states of the world, thus explaining some of the empirical puzzles of choice under risk, such the Allais paradox. In another application, Kőszegi and Szeidl (2013) show that a decision maker focusing on the attributes which have larger effects on her final utility display procrastination when many future small gains reward a present costly decision. In this case, the decision maker focuses more on the present large cost than on the small future gains. In sum, the context-dependent approach to choice is able to model many of the irrational behaviors documented in laboratories (risk-loving, time inconsistency, procrastination etc.).

Consider the problem of a consumer deciding whether to change her old tariff with a new one introduced by her bank. Such costumer has to decide whether the two tariffs are significantly different, and in case they are, change. The comparison is not easy in this market: tariffs are made of many prices and consumers are often unsure of the use they will make of their account. Therefore this decision requires focusing. The prices making a tariff define payoffs in different states of the world (the states of the world being different consumption levels of bank services), and are the attributes of the various tariff options. Under the context-dependent approach to decision making, consumers should therefore focus their attention on the prices which differ more among tariffs offered by their bank. This suggests, for example, that the more dispersed is the basic fee, which is paid by all consumers, the more the clients should pay attention to their tariffs. Moreover, consumers which use the services with the most dispersed prices across tariffs should pay more attention to their tariff choice, hence they should be less likely to have dominated tariffs. ⁴⁰

To investigate whether price dispersion is associated with consumer attention, Figure 6 provides a first inspection of the relationship between the dispersion of the basic fee, which has been shown to be the most important component of the tariff, and the fraction of accounts with dominated tariff in a bank. Each dot is a bank, on the x-axis I plot the coefficient of variation of the basic fee and on the y-axis I plot the fraction of consumers with dominated tariff.



Figure 5 – Scatter plot and local polynomial regression of the fraction of accounts with dominated tariffs and the dispersion of the basic fee (left panel) and the credit card fee (right panel) at the bank level.

A linear regression coefficient, controlling for bank variables described in Table 4, is equal to -0.31 and significant at 1 percent level.⁴¹

I therefore investigate this exaplantion with a set of regression results. I first rank bank services associated to checking accounts⁴² with respect to the coefficient of variation of prices across tariffs and study whether consumers that use the services with the most dispersed prices are less likely to have a dominated tariff.⁴³

⁴⁰Issues of endogeneity, which could potentially arise if consumers who are more financially educated are also more likely to use services with dispersed prices will be discussed explicitly below. The ability to detect whether a tariff is dominated can be correlated with many unobservable characteristics of the client, such as financial literacy, occupation etc.

 $^{^{41}}$ Figure 6 in the Appendix shows the cases for the other prices.

 $^{^{42}}$ See Table 2 for details on the servies used.

⁴³I use the coefficient of variation instead of standard deviations to measure price dispersion because otherwise services with higher prices, such as credit cards, will mechanically have larger dispersion. Indeed for roughly 75% of banks the service with the highest standard deviation is the credit card, for 17% is the debit card, and the remaining share is equally devided among the other types of transactions. In this case the results could be driven by the selection of attentive consumers into the set of users of a specific service. Nonetheless, I report the results using standard deviations in Table 11 in the

Among the 360 banks in the sample, for roughly 20% of banks the service with the highest coefficient of variation is the debit card, for an equal share it is the credit card and the ATM withdrawals. The remaining share is almost equally devided among the other services. Thus, the service with the most variable price can vary significantly across banks and is therefore unliekly to be related with unobserved characteristics of the client. I then construct a dummy variable equal to one if the account owner has used one of the two services with the most dispersed price at least once in the year.⁴⁴ I then regress the dominated tariff dummy on the dummy of whether the client has used the services with the most dispersed prices within her bank, controlling for client, account and bank characteristics. The first two lines of Table 6 report the main results.

Appendix. These additional results confirm the interpretation provided in the main text.

⁴⁴Using only the service the most dispersed prices, or the first the three services with the most dispersed price give simlar results.

| Le | Logit model | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|-------------|-------------|-----------|--|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable: dummy | account wit | h dominated | l tariff | | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| Use the services | -0.044*** | -0.053*** | -0.055*** | | | | |
| with most dispersed prices | (0.017) | (0.015) | (0.014) | | | | |
| Use only services | 0.058*** | 0.054*** | 0.052*** | | | | |
| with least dispersed prices | (0.014) | (0.014) | (0.014) | | | | |
| Account Age | 0.038*** | 0.037*** | 0.036*** | | | | |
| | (0.010) | (0.0098) | (0.0095) | | | | |
| Client Age | 0.0081* | 0.0085* | 0.0083* | | | | |
| | (0.0043) | (0.0045) | (0.0044) | | | | |
| Dummy Loan | 0.063*** | 0.061*** | 0.061*** | | | | |
| | (0.0079) | (0.0078) | (0.0079) | | | | |
| Dummy Asset Management | -0.048*** | -0.044*** | -0.044*** | | | | |
| | (0.014) | (0.015) | (0.015) | | | | |
| Dummy Home Banking | -0.069*** | -0.069*** | -0.069*** | | | | |
| | (0.019) | (0.019) | (0.019) | | | | |
| Observations | 28161 | 28122 | 27930 | | | | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | | | | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | | | | |

Table 6 – Notes: Marginal effects estimated using a probit model for the dummy account with dominated tariff. Among the the explanatory variable shown, "Use services with most dispersed prices" is a dummy equal to 1 if the account owner uses the two services whose prices have the maximum coefficient of variation among all services within the bank; the variable "Use only services with least dispersed prices" is a dummy equal to 1 if the account owner uses only the two services whose prices have the minimum coefficient of variation among all services within the bank. See Table 4 for the details on the additional regressors included in the specification.

***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

The first line shows the estimated conditional relationship between the probability of having a dominated tariff and whether the account owner uses the services whose prices are most disperesed. In the case of context-dependent choice among tariffs, these clients should focus more attention to the differences between their tariff and the other options offered by their bank, and therefore they should be less likely to have a dominated tariff. The relationship I find is negative and significant in all specifications and, assuming that such behavior is exogenous to unobserved client characteristics, indicate that when the client uses such services the probability of having a dominated tariff falls of 5%.

The second line reports the estimated relationship between the probability of having a dominated tariff and a dummy equal to one if the account owner uses only the two services whose prices are the least dispersed among bank services. If consumers' decision making process is best described by contextdependent choice, these clients should be more likely to have a dominated tariff because for them their tariff is the same as the others ofered by the bank. The estimates are positive and significant, confirming the interpretation proposed.

It is useful to stress that these services vary considerably among banks, therefore these results should not driven by the selection of attentive consumers into the set of users of a specific service. Consumers are likely to pay more attention to what they pay when prices vary considerably among options.

The bottom part of Table 6 reports some additional results on the characteristics of the accounts with dominated tariffs. These estimates are consistent with the discussion in Section 4.1.

Table 7 provides a second set of results which corroborate the previous evidence on consumer inattention. The dependent variable is, as in Table 6, the dummy for whether the client has a dominated tariff. The explanatory variable is the standard deviation across tariffs of the prices of the services they use.

| Logit model | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------|------------|------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable: dummy dominated tariff | | | | | | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | | | | | |
| Standard deviation of fixed fees: | | | | | | | | |
| Basic Fee | 0.0036 | -0.0067*** | -0.0069*** | | | | | |
| | (0.0038) | (0.0023) | (0.0023) | | | | | |
| Debit Card | -0.00073 | -0.00075 | -0.00080 | | | | | |
| | (0.0012) | (0.0010) | (0.0010) | | | | | |
| Credit Card | -0.0037*** | -0.0038*** | -0.0038*** | | | | | |
| | (0.00065) | (0.00068) | (0.00069) | | | | | |
| Standard deviation of pr | rices per transactio | n: | | | | | | |
| Branch withdrawals | -0.062*** | -0.060*** | -0.059*** | | | | | |
| | (0.013) | (0.012) | (0.012) | | | | | |
| ATM withdrawals | -0.031* | -0.034** | -0.032** | | | | | |
| | (0.017) | (0.017) | (0.016) | | | | | |
| Branch transfers | -0.069*** | -0.071*** | -0.071*** | | | | | |
| | (0.0086) | (0.0088) | (0.0088) | | | | | |
| Online transfers | -0.063*** | -0.067*** | -0.067*** | | | | | |
| | (0.015) | (0.015) | (0.015) | | | | | |
| Automatic payments | -0.019 | -0.022 | -0.024 | | | | | |
| | (0.016) | (0.016) | (0.016) | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| Obs. | 18441 | 18441 | 18290 | | | | | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | | | | | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | | | | | |

| Table 7 – Notes: | all specifications | include client, | account, | bank and | branch | constrols. |
|---------------------------------|----------------------|------------------|----------|----------|--------|------------|
| See Table <mark>4</mark> for de | etails on the additi | ional variables. | | | | |

***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

The estimated coefficient are negative, as expected, for all but two variables: debit card fees and automatic payments. The presence of negative and significant coefficients confirm that clients using services with more dispersed prices are less likely to have dominated tariffs. This confirms the contextdependent choice as a likely interpretation of consumer mistakes in this market. The estimated coefficients are larger for transactions than for the fixed fees. This can be interpreted in light of the difference salience of the two kind of prices: the price of each operation is more salient, since it is paid every time an operation is requested, while fees are automatically charged on the account once a year, therefore a larger variance in these prices is more likely to attract consumer attention on her tariff, even if these services are not the main determinants of the overall costs of checking accounts.

On the contrary, note that the standard deviation of the fixed fee is also (negatively) related to the probability of keeping a tariff dominated. This suggests that the dispersion of prices attracts consumer attention even though consumers tend to ignore the level of a price, as shown above for the fixed fee.

5 Robustness analysis

5.1 Mis-measurement of the marginal price

The dataset used in the analysis contains detailed information on the characteristics of the services sold,⁴⁵ but it lacks a complete characterization of tariffs' non-linearities. For example, the data specify whether a tariff includes free operations and the number of operations free of charge, but it does not specify the marginal price when the free amount is exausted. All I know, beside these characteristics, are total expenditures for the amount consumed for each service. To address this issue, this section examines the potential mis-measurement of prices due to three-part tariffs, the most common of the non-linearities present in this market.⁴⁶ The drawback of the approaches proposed below, and therefore why they have not been used in the main section, is that I loose a significant number of observations.

I report two sets of estimates that assess the role of three-part tariffs.⁴⁷ First, I compare only tariffs without free operations, for which the marginal and average price coincide. Second, I have modified the approach described in Section 3.2 to make it robust to the case in which average prices of financial services are increasing in the amount consumed.⁴⁸ More specifically, a tariff is compared to an alternative only if the account owner consumes all services fewer times than the account owner of the alternative tariff. If the tariff includes a limited number of free operations, the average price should

⁴⁵See Section 3 for a detailed description of the dataset

⁴⁶Another source of non-linearities is block pricing, in which the unit price change across ranges of usage. To our knowledge, this form of pricing is not used in the market of personal bank accounts.

⁴⁷In addition, I manually went through the contracts of the 7 banks most represented in the dataset, accounting for 40% of the observations in the dataset, which are available on-line on the banks' websites. I found that none of the contracts offered included a limited number of free operations for the services used in the paper, indicating that this pricing strategy is rarely used by firms in this market.

⁴⁸Although not explicitly forbidden, a decreasing average price, which would happen when there are price discounts abouve some consumption levels, is seldomly used for personal bank accounts.

increase with the number of operations, therefore finding that the tariff is dominated would not be determined by a positive derivative in the average price. Table 8 is the analogous of Table 6, but for these two robustness checks.⁴⁹

| Logit model Dep. variable: dummy account with dominated tariff | | | | | | | | |
|---|---|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|--|--|
| | No free operations Restriction on usage | | | | | isage | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) | | |
| Use the services with most dispersed prices | -0.24*** (0.038) | -0.24*** (0.037) | -0.24*** (0.037) | -0.24*** (0.023) | -0.23*** (0.022) | -0.24*** (0.022) | | |
| Use only services | 0.13*** | 0.13*** | 0.14*** | 0.16*** | 0.16*** | 0.16*** | | |
| with least dispersed prices | (0.021) | (0.020) | (0.020) | (0.015) | (0.014) | (0.014) | | |
| Obs. | 10705 | 10705 | 10643 | 10371 | 10371 | 10279 | | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | No | Yes | Yes | | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | No | No | Yes | | |

Table 8 – Notes: Marginal effects estimated using a probit model for the dummy account with dominated tariff. See Table 6 for a description of the variables. In column 1 to 3 I compute dominated tariffs only considering tariffs that do not include free operations; in column 4 to 6 a tariff is compared to an alternative only if the account owner consumes all services fewer times than the account owner of the alternative tariff.

***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

The results are qualitatively similar to the ones reported in Table 6, both in terms of sign of the coefficients and their significance. They are quantitatively larger. Thus I can conclude that tariff nonlinearities do not drive the results and, if anything, that in the subset of accounts which are not affected to the mismeasurement of prices, the results above are larger. In Table 13 I provide results analogous to those reported in Table 7, but using the subsample and the approach described above. These results confirm what has been shown in the previous section.

⁴⁹See Table 12 in the Appendix for the additional results on the other variables.

5.2 Are consumers inattentive or indifferent to the costs of their accounts?

The results reported in Section 4.1 highlight that foregone savings from keeping a dominated tariff can be substantial. A client changing her dominated tariff with a non-dominated one offered by her bank could save, on average, between 38 and 68% of the overall costs her account. These values are significant in relative terms, however they are probably a small fraction of consumers' income: these percentages correspond to euro 24 and 51 per year respectively.⁵⁰ Are clients simply indifferent to such amounts, or they really focus on some aspects of their tariffs as the results above suggest?

I do not have access to the clients' income, which could allow additional analysis on this issue. However one alternative way to address whether consumers are indifferent to what they pay for their accounts because the amounts involved are too small is to normalise savings for the average account balance during the year. In this subsection I consider accounts with dominated only those whose minimum forgone savings are less than 10% of the average yearly account balance. For these costumers, either the average account balance is large, so they are presumably wealthy, or the foregone savings are small, so their tariff is not significantly different from non-dominated alterantives. Either way, the owners of these accounts are more likely to be indiferrent to having a dominated tariffs, given the relative small savings they would get. If indifference, rather than context-dependent attention, is a significant explanation for consumer inattention, these clients are those more likely to be indifferent and for them I should not observe the relationship between prices and inattention found in Section 4.3.⁵¹ Table 9 reports the results.

⁵⁰After-tax average monthly income in Italy in 2014 was euro 1,239 according to the Italian Ministry of Finance.

⁵¹Figure 7 in the appendix report the distribution of the yearly average account balance. Accounts with negative balance are also considered among those dominated. I have performed several robustness checks with respect to the threshold of 10%, finding results similar to those shown below.

| Logit model | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|-------------|-------------|-----------|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable: dummy | account wit | h dominated | l tariff | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Use the services | -0.026 | -0.034** | -0.036** | | | |
| with most dispersed prices | (0.017) | (0.015) | (0.015) | | | |
| Use only services | 0.053*** | 0.050*** | 0.047*** | | | |
| with least dispersed prices | (0.014) | (0.014) | (0.014) | | | |
| Account Age | 0.044*** | 0.043*** | 0.042*** | | | |
| | (0.010) | (0.0099) | (0.0096) | | | |
| Client Age | 0.013*** | 0.013*** | 0.013*** | | | |
| | (0.0045) | (0.0047) | (0.0046) | | | |
| Dummy Loan | 0.050*** | 0.048*** | 0.047*** | | | |
| | (0.0083) | (0.0082) | (0.0082) | | | |
| Dummy Asset Management | -0.023 | -0.019 | -0.019 | | | |
| | (0.015) | (0.016) | (0.016) | | | |
| Dummy Home Banking | -0.061*** | -0.062*** | -0.062*** | | | |
| | (0.018) | (0.018) | (0.018) | | | |
| Observations | 25638 | 25606 | 25432 | | | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | | | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | | | |

Table 9 – Notes: Marginal effects estimated using a probit model for the dummy account with dominated tariff using only accounts whose minimum savings are larger than 10% of average account balance. See Table 6 for details.

***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

The estimates are smaller than those reported in Table 6, but of the expected sign and significant. The coefficients are negative, as expected, for those accounts using the services with the most dispersed prices, and positive for those accounts using only the services with the lest dispersed prices. Thus they confirm the evidence of context-dependent choice among tariffs also for accounts for which the owners are more likely to be simply indifferent, since the foregone savings are very small.⁵²

⁵²Table 14 in the Appendix provides additional results.

6 Conclusions

This paper presents field evidence of consumer inattention from the market of personal checking accounts using a representative sample of all checking accounts held by households and individuals in Italy. I identify inattentive consumers as those keeping account tariffs that are strictly dominated, i.e. more expensive for any use of the account, than non-promotional tariffs offered by the same bank where the account is held and introduced after the account has been opened. This approach does not depend on consumer's characteristics or the services she uses, comparing tariffs using all possible use of a bank account observed in the data. For these accounts I compute measures of foregone savings from not being on the efficient frontier of tariffs offered by their bank and analyze the relationship between tariff characteristics and consumption behavior to understand the causes of inattention in this market. The results indicate that significant fraction of consumers are inattentive to the costs of their accounts, keeping tariffs that are dominated by some available alternative offered later by the same bank where they have their account. In the baseline analysis roughly half of accounts have dominated tariffs. Foregone savings from not having to a non-dominated tariff range from \in 24 to \in 51 per year, equivalent to 38 and 68% of the average costs of the account.

The probability of having a dominated tariff, and the expected savings from not switching to one on the frontier, increases with account tenure. This indicates that a significant fraction of consumers in this market do not improve their choice over time. On the contrary, they ignore that their tariff becomes expensive with time and should be updated to a new and cheaper one after few years. Two results shed light on the origins of this inattention. First, the fixed fee is the only component overlooked by consumers even though it is the easiest to observe and compare among options and it is the single largest component of account costs. Thus many consumers fail to check the part of the tariff with the lowest information costs. If information costs were the explanation of consumer inattention, the easiest price to compare would not be the only component determining tariff dominance. Second, consumers using services with the highest dispersion of prices across tariffs offered by their bank are less likely to have a dominated tariff, and consumer inattention increases

with the dispersion of prices across tariffs offered by their bank, including the dispersion of the fixed fee. This evidence suggests that consumers pay more attention when prices are more dispersed across tariffs at their bank. Therefore consumers, when they do compare tariffs, focus their attention on the characteristics of their tariffs that vary more and ignore those that are less diverse across options, even if they are the main determinants of the overall costs of their accounts. These results are consistent with recent theories of context-dependence choice (Bordalo *et al.* (2012) and Kőszegi and Szeidl (2013)), which has been shown to explain other behaviors inconsistent with rationality documented empirically. These findings may contribute to design policy interventions aiming at improving consumer choice in this market. One of the implications of the models described above is that consumers with limited focus tend to procrastinate optimal decision maker would do. A feasible, zero-costs policy intervention would than be having consumers actively re-making their choice when their tariff become old, say older than the median account age which is 8 years. Our analysis suggests that in this market this simple policy could be quite effective.

References

- ABALUCK, J. and GRUBER, J. (2011). Choice inconsistencies among the elderly: Evidence from plan choice in the medicare part d program. *American Economic Review*, **101** (4), 1180–1210.
- AGARWAL, S., DRISCOLL, J. C., GABAIX, X. and LAIBSON, D. (2013). Lerning in the credit card market. *SSRN Working Paper*, (1091623).
- ATER, I. and LANDSMAN, V. (2013). Do customers learn from experience? evidence from retail banking. *Management Science*, **59** (9), 2019–2035.
- and (2016). Testing alternative learning theories: Evidence from subscription contracts. *Tel Aviv University*, (mimeo).
- BANK OF ITALY (2016). Annual report for 2015. Bank of Italy.

- BARSEGHYAN, L., PRINCE, J. and TEITELBAUM, J. C. (2011). Are risk preferences stable across contexts? evidence from insurance data. *American Economic Review*, **101** (2), 591âĂŞ631.
- BORDALO, P., GENNAIOLI, N. and SHLEIFER, A. (2012). Salience theory of choice under risk. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **3** (127), 1243 1285.
- -, and (2013). Salience and consumer choice. Journal of Political Economy, 5 (121), 803 843.
- CAPLIN, A. and DEAN, M. (2015). Revealed preference, rational inattention, and costly information acquisition. *American Economic Review*, **105** (7), 2183–2203.

CRUICKSHANK, D. (2000). Review of Banking Services in the UK. London: HM Treasury.

- DECAROLIS, F. (2015). Medicare part d: Are insurers gaming the low income subsidy design? *American Economic Review*, **105** (4), 1547âĂŞ1580.
- ERICSON, K. M. (2014). Consumer inertia and firm pricing in the medicare part d prescription drug insurance exchange. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, **6** (1), 38–64.
- GRUBB, M. (2015). Failing to choose the best price: Theory, evidence, and policy. *Review of Industrial Organization*, **47** (3), 303 340.
- and OSBORNE, M. (2015). Cellular service demand: Biased beliefs, learning, and bill shock. American Economic Review, 105 (1), 234–271.
- HASTINGS, J. and DUARTE, F. (2012). Fettered consumers and sophisticated firms: Evidence from mexico's privatized social security market. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper*, (18582).

HAYES, B. (1987). Competition and two-part tariffs. The Journal of Business, 60 (1), 41-54.

- HOLMES, T. J. (1989). The effects of third-degree price discrimination in oligopoly. *American Economic Review*, **79** (1), 244 250.
- JAPPELLI, T. and PADULA, M. (2015). Investment in financial literacy, social security, and portfolio choice. *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance*, (April), 1 43.

- KŐSZEGI, B. and SZEIDL, A. (2013). A model of focusing in economic choice. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **1** (128), 53 104.
- KISER, E. (2002). Predicting household switching behavior and switching costs at depository institutions. *Review of Industrial Organization*, **20**, 349 – 365.
- KLEMPERER, P. (1987). Markets with consumer switching costs. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, **102**, 375–394.
- MATÊJKA, F. and MCKAY, A. (2015). Rational inattention to discrete choices: A new foundation for the multinomial logit model. *American Economic Review*, **105** (1), 272–298.
- MIRAVETE, E. (2013). Competition and the use of foggy pricing. *American Economic Journal: Microeconomics*, **5** (1), 194–216.
- and PALACIOS-HUERTA, I. (2014). Consumer inertia, choice dependence and learning from experience in a repeated decision problem. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, **96** (3), 524–537.
- REIS, R. (2006). Inattentive consumers. Journal of Monetary Economics, 53 (8), 1761–1800.
- SHARPE, S. (1997). The effect of consumer switching costs on prices: A theory and its application to the bank deposit market. *Review of Industrial Organization*, **79** (12), 79 – 94.
- SIMONSON, I. and TVERSKY, A. (1992). Choice in context: Tradeoff contrast and extremeness aversion. *Journal of Marketing Research*, **29** (3), 281–295.
- SPULBERG, D. F. (1989). Product variety and competitive discount. *Journal of Economic Theory*, **48**, 510–525.
- STANGO, V. (2002). Pricing with consumer switching costs: Evidence from the credit card market. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, **50** (4), 475–492.
- and ZINMAN, J. (2009). What do consumers really pay on their checking and credit card accounts?
 explicit, implicit, and avoidable costs. *American Economic Review: Papers & Proceedings*, 2 (99), 424 429.

- and (2014). Limited and varying consumer attention: Evidence from shocks to the salience of bank overdaft fees. *Revew of Financial Studies*, 4 (27), 990 – 1030.
- STOLE, L. A. (2007). Price discrimination and competition. In M. Armstrong and R. Porter (eds.), *Handbook of Industrial Organization*, vol. 3, North Holland, Amsterdam: Elsevier, pp. 2221–2299.
- TVERSKY, A. (1969). Intransitivity of preferences. *Psychological Review*, **1** (76), 31-48.
- and KAHNEMAN, D. (1981). The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice. *Science*, (211), 453–458.
- ZEPHIRIN, M. (1994). Switching costs in the deposit market. *The Economic Journal*, **104** (423), 455–461.

A Additional results

A.1 Price discrimination and tariff characteristics

The high dispersion in the fixed fee could be a form of price discrimination (Stole (2007)). Some costumers willingly pay a higher fixed fee in exchange for lower prices on cards and other services (see Hayes (1987), Spulberg (1989)). To investigate this possibility, I estimate a tobit model for each price using as independent variable the basic fee.⁵³

| | Dependent Variable: | | | | | | | |
|---|----------------------|------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------|--|
| | Cards | | Withdrawals | | Transfers | | Automatic | |
| | Debit | Credit | Branch | ATM | Branch | on-line | payments | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) | (7) | |
| $\frac{\partial E(p_i)}{\partial \text{Basic Fee}_i}$ (s.e) | 0.00179 (0.00964) | -0.0382*** (0.0129) | -0.0198*** (0.00544) | 0.00217*** (0.000743) | -9.32e-05 (0.000879) | 0.00531** (0.00217) | 0.00797*** (0.00270) | |
| Obs. | 31820 | 14029 | 25149 | 26700 | 15911 | 8444 | 29554 | |

 Table 10 – Notes: Maximum Likelihood Estimates of the Tobit model:

 $max(0, p_i) = \alpha + \beta Basic Fee_i + \epsilon_i$

where the dependent variable p_i is price of the service indicated at the top of the column. All regressions include bank fixed effects. Standard errors clustered at bank level.

- ***: Significant at 1 percent level.
- **: Significant at 5 percent level.

*: Significant at 10 percent level.

Table 10 shows that this is unlikely the case. In most cases the relationship is not significant or even positive while when there is a negative relationship between a price and the basic fee, i.e. for the price of credit cards and branch withdrawals, the effect is so small that it unlikely justifies the higher fee.

⁵³Results with additional variable are similar and can be obtained from the authors.

A.2 Price dispersion and the probability of having a dominated tariff



Figure 6 – Scatter plot and local polynomial regression of the fraction of accounts with dominated tariffs and the dispersion of the credit card fee (top left panel), branch withdrawals (top right panel), ATM withdrawals (middle left panel), branch withdrawals (middle right panel) branch transfers (bottom panel) at the bank level.



Figure 7 – Distribution of the average account balance winsorized at the first and 99^{th} percentiles.

| Probit model | | | | | |
|--|-----------|-----------|-----------|--|--|
| Dep. variable: dummy account with dominated tariff | | | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | | |
| | | | | | |
| Use the services | -0.057*** | -0.061*** | -0.061*** | | |
| with most dispersed prices | (0.012) | (0.011) | (0.011) | | |
| Use only services | 0.070*** | 0.066*** | 0.065*** | | |
| with least dispersed prices | (0.015) | (0.015) | (0.015) | | |
| Account Age | 0.040*** | 0.039*** | 0.038*** | | |
| | (0.010) | (0.0098) | (0.0095) | | |
| Client Age | 0.0052 | 0.0056 | 0.0054 | | |
| | (0.0044) | (0.0046) | (0.0045) | | |
| Dummy Loan | 0.061*** | 0.059*** | 0.058*** | | |
| | (0.0078) | (0.0078) | (0.0078) | | |
| Dummy Asset Management | -0.046*** | -0.041*** | -0.042*** | | |
| | (0.014) | (0.016) | (0.016) | | |
| Dummy Home Banking | -0.059*** | -0.060*** | -0.060*** | | |
| | (0.017) | (0.017) | (0.018) | | |
| Observations | 28161 | 28122 | 27930 | | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | | |

Table 11 – Notes: Marginal effects estimated using a probit model for the dummy account with dominated tariff. Among the the explanatory variable shown, "Use services with most dispersed prices" is a dummy equal to 1 if the account owner uses the two services whose prices have the maximum standard deviation among all services within the bank; the variable "Use only services with least dispersed prices" is a dummy equal to 1 if the account owner uses only the two services whose prices have the minimum standard deviation among all services within the bank. See Table 4 for the details on the additional regressors included in the specification.

***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

| Logit model | | | | | | |
|--|---|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Dep. variable: dummy account with dominated tariff | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | No free operations Restriction on usage | | | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) |
| | | | | | | |
| Account Age | 0.023** | 0.023** | 0.022** | 0.0091 | 0.0079 | 0.0079 |
| | (0.0094) | (0.0098) | (0.0098) | (0.0077) | (0.0079) | (0.0080) |
| Client Age | 0.017*** | 0.017*** | 0.017*** | 0.014*** | 0.014*** | 0.015*** |
| | (0.0021) | (0.0022) | (0.0023) | (0.0021) | (0.0021) | (0.0021) |
| Dummy Loan | 0.049*** | 0.049*** | 0.049*** | 0.014 | 0.013 | 0.013 |
| | (0.014) | (0.014) | (0.014) | (0.010) | (0.010) | (0.011) |
| Dummy Asset Management | -0.035*** | -0.035*** | -0.034*** | -0.019*** | -0.016** | -0.016** |
| | (0.011) | (0.011) | (0.011) | (0.0070) | (0.0073) | (0.0071) |
| Dummy Home Banking | -0.071*** | -0.070*** | -0.070*** | -0.061*** | -0.060*** | -0.060*** |
| | (0.017) | (0.017) | (0.017) | (0.011) | (0.011) | (0.011) |
| Obs. | 10705 | 10705 | 10643 | 10371 | 10371 | 10279 |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | No | Yes | Yes |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | No | No | Yes |

Table 12 – Notes: Marginal effects estimated using a probit model for the dummy account with dominated tariff. See Table 6 for a description of the variables. In column 1 to 3 I compute dominated tariffs only considering tariffs that do not include free operations; in column 4 to 6 a tariff is compared to an alternative only if the account owner consumes all services fewer times than the account owner of the alternative tariff. ***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

| Dep. variable: dummy account with dominated tariff | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------------------------|------------|------------|--|
| | No free operations | | | Restriction on usage | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) | |
| Standard deviation of fixed fees: | | | | | | | |
| Basic Fee | -0.00062 | -0.0074 | -0.0079 | -0.0052 | -0.013** | -0.013** | |
| | (0.0080) | (0.0071) | (0.0070) | (0.0061) | (0.0064) | (0.0065) | |
| Debit Card | -0.0020 | -0.0021 | -0.0020 | 0.0010 | 0.00092 | 0.00096 | |
| | (0.0014) | (0.0014) | (0.0014) | (0.0020) | (0.0019) | (0.0020) | |
| Credit Card | -0.017*** | -0.017*** | -0.017*** | -0.0089*** | -0.0089*** | -0.0089*** | |
| | (0.0043) | (0.0043) | (0.0044) | (0.0023) | (0.0022) | (0.0022) | |
| Standard deviation of price per transaction: | | | | | | | |
| Branch withdrawals | -0.085*** | -0.084*** | -0.085*** | -0.11*** | -0.11*** | -0.11*** | |
| | (0.024) | (0.024) | (0.024) | (0.022) | (0.022) | (0.023) | |
| ATM withdrawals | -0.080*** | -0.081*** | -0.081*** | -0.19*** | -0.19*** | -0.19*** | |
| | (0.019) | (0.019) | (0.019) | (0.017) | (0.017) | (0.017) | |
| Branch transfers | -0.15*** | -0.15*** | -0.15*** | -0.12*** | -0.12*** | -0.12*** | |
| | (0.030) | (0.030) | (0.030) | (0.020) | (0.020) | (0.020) | |
| Online transfers | -1.01*** | -1.00*** | -1.01*** | - | - | - | |
| | (0.23) | (0.23) | (0.23) | - | - | - | |
| Automatic payments | -0.046* | -0.047* | -0.047* | -0.19*** | -0.19*** | -0.19*** | |
| | (0.024) | (0.024) | (0.024) | (0.025) | (0.024) | (0.025) | |
| Obs. | 7062 | 7062 | 7013 | 7908 | 7908 | 7829 | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | No | Yes | Yes | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | No | No | Yes | |

I ogit model

Table 13 – Notes: Marginal effects estimated using a probit model for the dummy account with dominated tariff. See Table 7 for a description of the variables. In column 1 to 3 I compute dominated tariffs only considering tariffs that do not include free operations; in column 4 to 6 a tariff is compared to an alternative only if the account owner consumes all services fewer times than the account owner of the alternative tariff. ***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

| Logit model | | | | | | |
|---|-----------|-----------|--------------------|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable: dummy dominated tariff | | | | | | |
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | | | |
| Standard deviation of fixed fees: | | | | | | |
| Basic Fee | 0.0027 | -0.0058 | -0.0054 | | | |
| | (0.0091) | (0.0070) | (0.0068) | | | |
| Debit Card | -0.0021 | -0.0023 | -0.0022 | | | |
| | (0.0016) | (0.0016) | (0.0016) | | | |
| Credit Card | -0.017*** | -0.017*** | -0.017*** | | | |
| | (0.0045) | (0.0045) | (0.0046) | | | |
| Standard deviation of prices per transaction: | | | | | | |
| Branch withdrawals | -0.12*** | -0.12*** | -0.12*** | | | |
| | (0.029) | (0.029) | (0.029) | | | |
| ATM withdrawals | -0.067*** | -0.067*** | -0.067*** | | | |
| Dronch transform | (0.021) | (0.021) | (0.021) 0.15*** | | | |
| Branch transfers | -0.13 | -0.13 | -0.13**** | | | |
| Online transfers | (0.029) | (0.028) | - (0.028) | | | |
| | - | - | - | | | |
| Automatic payments | -0.016 | -0.017 | -0.018 | | | |
| | (0.020) | (0.020) | (0.021) | | | |
| Obs. | 6198 | 6198 | 6162 | | | |
| Bank Controls | No | Yes | Yes | | | |
| Branch Controls | No | No | Yes | | | |

| Table 14 – Notes: all specifications include clien | t, account, bank and branch constrols. |
|--|--|
| See Table 4 for details on the additional variable | <i>S</i> . |

***: Significant at 1 percent; **: Significant at 5 percent; *: Significant at 10 percent.

- N. 1055 Bank internationalization and firm exports: evidence from matched firm-bank data, by Raffaello Bronzini and Alessio D'Ignazio (February 2016).
- N. 1056 *Retirement, pension eligibility and home production*, by Emanuele Ciani (February 2016).
- N. 1057 The real effects of credit crunch in the Great Recession: evidence from Italian provinces, by Guglielmo Barone, Guido de Blasio and Sauro Mocetti (February 2016).
- N. 1058 *The quantity of corporate credit rationing with matched bank-firm data*, by Lorenzo Burlon, Davide Fantino, Andrea Nobili and Gabriele Sene (February 2016).
- N. 1059 Estimating the money market microstructure with negative and zero interest rates, by Edoardo Rainone and Francesco Vacirca (February 2016).
- N. 1060 Intergenerational mobility in the very long run: Florence 1427-2011, by Guglielmo Barone and Sauro Mocetti (April 2016).
- N. 1061 An evaluation of the policies on repayment of government's trade debt in Italy, by Leandro D'Aurizio and Domenico Depalo (April 2016).
- N. 1062 Market timing and performance attribution in the ECB reserve management *framework*, by Francesco Potente and Antonio Scalia (April 2016).
- N. 1063 Information contagion in the laboratory, by Marco Cipriani, Antonio Guarino, Giovanni Guazzarotti, Federico Tagliati and Sven Fischer (April 2016).
- N. 1064 EAGLE-FLI. A macroeconomic model of banking and financial interdependence in the euro area, by Nikola Bokan, Andrea Gerali, Sandra Gomes, Pascal Jacquinot and Massimiliano Pisani (April 2016).
- N. 1065 How excessive is banks' maturity transformation?, by Anatoli Segura Velez and Javier Suarez (April 2016).
- N. 1066 *Common faith or parting ways? A time-varying factor analysis*, by Davide Delle Monache, Ivan Petrella and Fabrizio Venditti (June 2016).
- N. 1067 *Productivity effects of eco-innovations using data on eco-patents*, by Giovanni Marin and Francesca Lotti (June 2016).
- N. 1068 *The labor market channel of macroeconomic uncertainty*, by Elisa Guglielminetti (June 2016).
- N. 1069 Individual trust: does quality of public services matter?, by Silvia Camussi and Anna Laura Mancini (June 2016).
- N. 1070 Some reflections on the social welfare bases of the measurement of global income inequality, by Andrea Brandolini and Francesca Carta (July 2016).
- N. 1071 Boulevard of broken dreams. The end of the EU funding (1997: Abruzzi, Italy), by Guglielmo Barone, Francesco David and Guido de Blasio (July 2016).
- N. 1072 Bank quality, judicial efficiency and borrower runs: loan repayment delays in Italy, by Fabio Schiantarelli, Massimiliano Stacchini and Philip Strahan (July 2016).
- N. 1073 Search costs and the severity of adverse selection, by Francesco Palazzo (July 2016).
- N. 1074 Macroeconomic effectiveness of non-standard monetary policy and early exit. A model-based evaluation, by Lorenzo Burlon, Andrea Gerali, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (July 2016).
- N. 1075 *Quantifying the productivity effects of global sourcing*, by Sara Formai and Filippo Vergara Caffarelli (July 2016).
- N. 1076 Intergovernmental transfers and expenditure arrears, by Paolo Chiades, Luciano Greco, Vanni Mengotto, Luigi Moretti and Paola Valbonesi (July 2016).
- N. 1077 A "reverse Robin Hood"? The distributional implications of non-standard monetary policy for Italian households, by Marco Casiraghi, Eugenio Gaiotti, Lisa Rodano and Alessandro Secchi (July 2016).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

2014

- G. M. TOMAT, *Revisiting poverty and welfare dominance*, Economia pubblica, v. 44, 2, 125-149, **TD No. 651** (December 2007).
- M. TABOGA, *The riskiness of corporate bonds*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v.46, 4, pp. 693-713, **TD No. 730 (October 2009).**
- G. MICUCCI and P. ROSSI, *Il ruolo delle tecnologie di prestito nella ristrutturazione dei debiti delle imprese in crisi*, in A. Zazzaro (a cura di), Le banche e il credito alle imprese durante la crisi, Bologna, Il Mulino, **TD No. 763 (June 2010).**
- F. D'AMURI, *Gli effetti della legge 133/2008 sulle assenze per malattia nel settore pubblico*, Rivista di politica economica, v. 105, 1, pp. 301-321, **TD No. 787 (January 2011).**
- R. BRONZINI and E. IACHINI, Are incentives for R&D effective? Evidence from a regression discontinuity approach, American Economic Journal : Economic Policy, v. 6, 4, pp. 100-134, **TD No. 791** (February 2011).
- P. ANGELINI, S. NERI and F. PANETTA, *The interaction between capital requirements and monetary policy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 46, 6, pp. 1073-1112, **TD No. 801 (March 2011).**
- M. BRAGA, M. PACCAGNELLA and M. PELLIZZARI, *Evaluating students' evaluations of professors,* Economics of Education Review, v. 41, pp. 71-88, **TD No. 825 (October 2011).**
- M. FRANCESE and R. MARZIA, Is there Room for containing healthcare costs? An analysis of regional spending differentials in Italy, The European Journal of Health Economics, v. 15, 2, pp. 117-132, TD No. 828 (October 2011).
- L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Bank heterogeneity and interest rate setting: what lessons have we learned since Lehman Brothers?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 46, 4, pp. 753-778, **TD No. 829 (October 2011).**
- M. PERICOLI, *Real term structure and inflation compensation in the euro area*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-42, **TD No. 841 (January 2012).**
- E. GENNARI and G. MESSINA, How sticky are local expenditures in Italy? Assessing the relevance of the flypaper effect through municipal data, International Tax and Public Finance, v. 21, 2, pp. 324-344, TD No. 844 (January 2012).
- V. DI GACINTO, M. GOMELLINI, G. MICUCCI and M. PAGNINI, *Mapping local productivity advantages in Italy: industrial districts, cities or both?*, Journal of Economic Geography, v. 14, pp. 365–394, **TD No. 850** (January 2012).
- A. ACCETTURO, F. MANARESI, S. MOCETTI and E. OLIVIERI, Don't Stand so close to me: the urban impact of immigration, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 45, pp. 45-56, TD No. 866 (April 2012).
- M. PORQUEDDU and F. VENDITTI, Do food commodity prices have asymmetric effects on euro area inflation, Studies in Nonlinear Dynamics and Econometrics, v. 18, 4, pp. 419-443, TD No. 878 (September 2012).
- S. FEDERICO, *Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 76, 3, pp. 389-410, **TD No. 879 (September 2012).**
- F. D'AMURI and G. PERI, *Immigration, jobs and employment protection: evidence from Europe before and during the Great Recession,* Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 12, 2, pp. 432-464, TD No. 886 (October 2012).
- M. TABOGA, *What is a prime bank? A euribor-OIS spread perspective*, International Finance, v. 17, 1, pp. 51-75, **TD No. 895 (January 2013).**
- G. CANNONE and D. FANTINO, *Evaluating the efficacy of european regional funds for R&D*, Rassegna italiana di valutazione, v. 58, pp. 165-196, **TD No. 902 (February 2013).**
- L. GAMBACORTA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Should monetary policy lean against the wind? An analysis based on a DSGE model with banking*, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 43, pp. 146-74, **TD No. 921 (July 2013).**
- M. BARIGOZZI, CONTI A.M. and M. LUCIANI, Do euro area countries respond asymmetrically to the common monetary policy?, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 76, 5, pp. 693-714, TD No. 923 (July 2013).
- U. ALBERTAZZI and M. BOTTERO, *Foreign bank lending: evidence from the global financial crisis,* Journal of International Economics, v. 92, 1, pp. 22-35, **TD No. 926 (July 2013).**

- R. DE BONIS and A. SILVESTRINI, *The Italian financial cycle: 1861-2011*, Cliometrica, v.8, 3, pp. 301-334, **TD No. 936 (October 2013).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Natural disasters, growth and institutions: a tale of two earthquakes, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 84, pp. 52-66, TD No. 949 (January 2014).*
- D. PIANESELLI and A. ZAGHINI, *The cost of firms' debt financing and the global financial crisis*, Finance Research Letters, v. 11, 2, pp. 74-83, **TD No. 950 (February 2014).**
- J. LI and G. ZINNA, *On bank credit risk: sytemic or bank-specific? Evidence from the US and UK*, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, v. 49, 5/6, pp. 1403-1442, **TD No. 951 (February 2015).**
- A. ZAGHINI, *Bank bonds: size, systemic relevance and the sovereign*, International Finance, v. 17, 2, pp. 161-183, **TD No. 966 (July 2014).**
- G. SBRANA and A. SILVESTRINI, *Random switching exponential smoothing and inventory forecasting,* International Journal of Production Economics, v. 156, 1, pp. 283-294, **TD No. 971 (October 2014).**
- M. SILVIA, Does issuing equity help R&D activity? Evidence from unlisted Italian high-tech manufacturing firms, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 23, 8, pp. 825-854, TD No. 978 (October 2014).

2015

- G. DE BLASIO, D. FANTINO and G. PELLEGRINI, Evaluating the impact of innovation incentives: evidence from an unexpected shortage of funds, Industrial and Corporate Change, v. 24, 6, pp. 1285-1314, TD No. 792 (February 2011).
- M. BUGAMELLI, S. FABIANI and E. SETTE, The age of the dragon: the effect of imports from China on firmlevel prices, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 47, 6, pp. 1091-1118, TD No. 737 (January 2010).
- R. BRONZINI, The effects of extensive and intensive margins of FDI on domestic employment: microeconomic evidence from Italy, B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy, v. 15, 4, pp. 2079-2109, TD No. 769 (July 2010).
- A. DI CESARE, A. P. STORK and C. DE VRIES, *Risk measures for autocorrelated hedge fund returns*, Journal of Financial Econometrics, v. 13, 4, pp. 868-895, **TD No. 831 (October 2011).**
- G. BULLIGAN, M. MARCELLINO and F. VENDITTI, *Forecasting economic activity with targeted predictors,* International Journal of Forecasting, v. 31, 1, pp. 188-206, **TD No. 847 (February 2012).**
- A. CIARLONE, *House price cycles in emerging economies*, Studies in Economics and Finance, v. 32, 1, **TD No. 863 (May 2012).**
- D. FANTINO, A. MORI and D. SCALISE, Collaboration between firms and universities in Italy: the role of a firm's proximity to top-rated departments, Rivista Italiana degli economisti, v. 1, 2, pp. 219-251, TD No. 884 (October 2012).
- A. BARDOZZETTI and D. DOTTORI, *Collective Action Clauses: how do they Affect Sovereign Bond Yields?*, Journal of International Economics, v 92, 2, pp. 286-303, **TD No. 897 (January 2013).**
- D. DEPALO, R. GIORDANO and E. PAPAPETROU, *Public-private wage differentials in euro area countries:* evidence from quantile decomposition analysis, Empirical Economics, v. 49, 3, pp. 985-1115, **TD No. 907 (April 2013).**
- G. BARONE and G. NARCISO, Organized crime and business subsidies: Where does the money go?, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 86, pp. 98-110, **TD No. 916 (June 2013).**
- P. ALESSANDRI and B. NELSON, *Simple banking: profitability and the yield curve,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 47, 1, pp. 143-175, **TD No. 945 (January 2014).**
- M. TANELI and B. OHL, *Information acquisition and learning from prices over the business cycle*, Journal of Economic Theory, 158 B, pp. 585–633, **TD No. 946 (January 2014).**
- R. AABERGE and A. BRANDOLINI, *Multidimensional poverty and inequality*, in A. B. Atkinson and F. Bourguignon (eds.), Handbook of Income Distribution, Volume 2A, Amsterdam, Elsevier, TD No. 976 (October 2014).
- V. CUCINIELLO and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Large banks,loan rate markup and monetary policy*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 11, 3, pp. 141-177, **TD No. 987 (November 2014).**
- M. FRATZSCHER, D. RIMEC, L. SARNOB and G. ZINNA, *The scapegoat theory of exchange rates: the first tests*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 70, 1, pp. 1-21, **TD No. 991 (November 2014).**

- A. NOTARPIETRO and S. SIVIERO, Optimal monetary policy rules and house prices: the role of financial frictions, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 47, S1, pp. 383-410, TD No. 993 (November 2014).
- R. ANTONIETTI, R. BRONZINI and G. CAINELLI, *Inward greenfield FDI and innovation*, Economia e Politica Industriale, v. 42, 1, pp. 93-116, **TD No. 1006 (March 2015).**
- T. CESARONI, *Procyclicality of credit rating systems: how to manage it,* Journal of Economics and Business, v. 82. pp. 62-83, **TD No. 1034 (October 2015).**
- M. RIGGI and F. VENDITTI, *The time varying effect of oil price shocks on euro-area exports,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 59, pp. 75-94, **TD No. 1035 (October 2015).**

2016

- E. BONACCORSI DI PATTI and E. SETTE, Did the securitization market freeze affect bank lending during the financial crisis? Evidence from a credit register, Journal of Financial Intermediation, v. 25, 1, pp. 54-76, TD No. 848 (February 2012).
- M. MARCELLINO, M. PORQUEDDU and F. VENDITTI, Short-Term GDP Forecasting with a mixed frequency dynamic factor model with stochastic volatility, Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, v. 34, 1, pp. 118-127, TD No. 896 (January 2013).
- M. ANDINI and G. DE BLASIO, *Local development that money cannot buy: Italy's Contratti di Programma,* Journal of Economic Geography, v. 16, 2, pp. 365-393, **TD No. 915 (June 2013).**
- L. ESPOSITO, A. NOBILI and T. ROPELE, *The Management of Interest Rate Risk During the Crisis: Evidence from Italian Banks*, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 59, pp. 486-504, **TD No. 933 (September 2013).**
- F. BUSETTI and M. CAIVANO, The Trend–Cycle Decomposition of Output and the Phillips Curve: Bayesian Estimates for Italy and the Euro Area, Empirical Economics, V. 50, 4, pp. 1565-1587, TD No. 941 (November 2013).
- M. CAIVANO and A. HARVEY, *Time-series models with an EGB2 conditional distribution*, Journal of Time Series Analysis, v. 35, 6, pp. 558-571, **TD No. 947 (January 2014).**
- G. ALBANESE, G. DE BLASIO and P. SESTITO, *My parents taught me. evidence on the family transmission of values,* Journal of Population Economics, v. 29, 2, pp. 571-592, **TD No. 955 (March 2014).**
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *The impact of R&D subsidies on firm innovation*, Research Policy, v. 45, 2, pp. 442-457, **TD No. 960 (April 2014).**
- L. BURLON and M. VILALTA-BUFI, A new look at technical progress and early retirement, IZA Journal of Labor Policy, v. 5, **TD No. 963 (June 2014).**
- A. BRANDOLINI and E. VIVIANO, *Behind and beyond the (headcount) employment rate,* Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A, v. 179, 3, pp. 657-681, **TD No. 965 (July 2015).**
- D. DOTTORI and M. MANNA, *Strategy and Tactics in Public Debt Management*, Journal of Policy Modeling, v. 38, 1, pp. 1-25, **TD No. 1005 (March 2015).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, *Shoe-leather costs in the euro area and the foreign demand for euro banknotes,* International Journal of Central Banking, v. 12, 1, pp. 231-246, **TD No. 1039 (December 2015).**
- E. CIANI, *Retirement, Pension Eligibility and Home Production,* Labour Economics, v. 38, pp. 106-120, **TD** No. 1056 (March 2016).
- L. D'AURIZIO and D. DEPALO, An Evaluation of the Policies on Repayment of Government's Trade Debt in *Italy*, Italian Economic Journal, v. 2, 2, pp. 167-196, **TD No. 1061 (April 2016).**

FORTHCOMING

- S. MOCETTI, M. PAGNINI and E. SETTE, *Information technology and banking organization*, Journal of Financial Services Research, **TD No. 752 (March 2010).**
- F BRIPI, *The role of regulation on entry: evidence from the Italian provinces*, World Bank Economic Review, **TD No. 932 (September 2013).**

- G. DE BLASIO and S. POY, *The impact of local minimum wages on employment: evidence from Italy in the* 1950s, Regional Science and Urban Economics, **TD No. 953 (March 2014).**
- A. L. MANCINI, C. MONFARDINI and S. PASQUA, *Is a good example the best sermon? Children's imitation of parental reading*, Review of Economics of the Household, **TD No. 958 (April 2014).**
- L. BURLON, *Public expenditure distribution, voting, and growth,* Journal of Public Economic Theory, **TD** No. 961 (April 2014).
- G. ZINNA, Price pressures on UK real rates: an empirical investigation, Review of Finance, TD No. 968 (July 2014).
- A. BORIN and M. MANCINI, Foreign direct investment and firm performance: an empirical analysis of *Italian firms*, Review of World Economics, **TD No. 1011 (June 2015).**
- F. CORNELI and E. TARANTINO, *Sovereign debt and reserves with liquidity and productivity crises*, Journal of International Money and Finance, **TD No. 1012 (June 2015).**